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Inside: 

 Tattenhall & Wollerton 

 Members become cartophiles! 

 Floriculture 

 Lowther Castle restoration begins 

Some future events:  

 Late bloomers; reliable late-flowering perennials ð 

Sat 20th August  

 Morreys Nursery, Kelsall ð Wed 21st September 

 Restored Liverpool Garden Festival Site ð Sat 15th 

October (tbc) 
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The hall from the west (see 1 on plan, page 3)ð photo: Barbara Moth  

A large party of members and guests gathered at 

Gawsworth on a bright spring day in early May to visit 

the hall and gardens.  We were introduced to the 

property by the owner Mr Richards, then toured the 

house, and after tea were led into the gardens by Mrs 

Richards and left to explore at leisure.  

To one who had only visited previously to attend an 

open air Shakespeare performance our visit was a 

revelation.  Anyone who came expecting plants may 

have been disappointed but for those with an interest 

in Cheshireõs historic parks and gardens it was 

absolutely fascinating.  

Rick Turnerõs book about the gardens1 is enormously 

helpful in understanding the history, but mature 

plantings obscure views and a lack of site 

interpretation made it challenging to understand.  
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The hall is approached from the north across a 

causeway between two pools and presents a picture 

book pretty scene of still water, green lawns, mature 

trees and ancient black and white timbering. The 

building is most impressive viewed from the east 

where its U shaped plan becomes apparent and the 

timbering and extent of glass can be appreciated. 

Rebuilt in 1480 and extensively remodelled in 1701 its 

architecture retains the feeling of a medieval great hall 

- like Little Moreton or Speke - though the interior is 

very differently presented, a family home with an 

unashamed eclectic mix of furnishings.  

The hall was set within a deer park, recorded as 2 

hays (enclosures for deer) in Domesday 1086, and 

clearly shown on Saxtonõs County map of 1577 and 

John Speedõs of 1610, emphasising its status as òa royal 

licence was required to create a park and only the very 

wealthiest could afford to create one.ó2   The extent of 

the park is indicated on an estate map c.1770 by G. 

Grey, displayed in the hall, the park distinguished from 

surrounding land by its larger fields. 

A chain of pools north of the hall, originally medieval 

fish ponds, once five and now four, diminish in size 

from the viewing point occupied by an 18th century 

pigeon house (in separate ownership), while a large 

walled enclosure to the south contains the earthworks 

of the ôgreat gardenõ.  The hall appears to have once 

been moated: evidenced by a ditch like depression 

separating the hall from the wilderness and to the 

south delineated by a scalloped brick retaining wall.  

 
The Wilderness (see 2 on plan) ð photo: Gordon Darlington 

From the Wilderness we ascended to a raised walk 

that extends the entire western boundary of the 

garden offering views out across Cheshire and also 

over the great garden.  Beside the raised walk is a 

rectangular sunken area with terraced sides to north 

and west.    

Excavations have revealed this to be a carefully 

constructed garden area using imported clay and brick 

retaining walls to hold sand and gravel terraces for 

planting and with regularly spaced tree pits. In the 

south west corner of the great garden is a viewing 

mount, formerly mirrored by a similar mount in the 

south east, but this mount was degraded during the 

last war when sand was removed. 

 
Members on the raised walk (see 3 on plan)ð photo: Gordon 

Darlington 

 
A view from the raised walk across Cheshire (see 4 on plan) ð 

photo: Jacquetta Menzies 

 
The terraced garden, south west mount and, in the distance, the 

Cloud near Congleton (see 5 on plan) ð photo: Gordon 

Darlington 

 
The mini gang on the mount: Ruth, Rita and Freyda (see 6 on 

plan) ð photo: Jacquetta Menzies 

The eastern boundary walls are also accompanied by a 

raised walk or terrace overlooking a long sunken 

garden. There is some evidence from sluices that the 

whole of the sunken area could have been flooded to 

create a vast shallow lake, possibly for an extravagant 

water pageant in honour of a visit by Elizabeth 1 that 

never happened. On an axis with the hall is a former 

canal ending in a circular pool pointing to a half moon 

in the southern boundary wall.   
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The former canal (see 7 on plan) ð 

photo: Jacquetta Menzies 

Documents recording the creation of the gardens are lacking so a combination 

of family history, circumstantial and comparative evidence, and archaeological 

investigation have been used by Turner to date the great garden to the end of 

Elizabethõs reign.  (This dating has been accepted in listing features and 

registering the garden.) At that time (1596) Mary, the daughter of the owner 

Sir Edward Fitton III, was a lady in waiting to the Queen.  She is thought to be 

the dark lady of Shakespeareõs sonnets.  It was Elizabethõs affection for the 

young girl that may have given her father hopes of entertaining the monarch at 

Gawsworth and instigated the creation of the garden.  

Jacques and Mowl suggest the garden to have been a late 17th century creation, 

largely on stylistic grounds, but there seems to be no documentary evidence to 

confirm this view.  Raised walks are known in Elizabethan gardens as are 

wildernesses, water features controlled by sluices and formal gardens, for 

example at Coombe Abbey near Coventry and at New Hall in Essex.  

The scale, ambition and survival of Gawsworth are impressive and their story 

tantalisingly incomplete.                                                           Barbara Moth  

1 Turner R.C. 1990. Gawsworth Hall Gardens, Macclesfield and Vale Royal Groundwork Trust 
2 Revealing Cheshireõs Past.  http://rcp.cheshire.gov.uk HER no 4000, Deer Park in Gawsworth 
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Tattenhall Hall 
It being late May (26th) and almost high summer, 

CGT members were well wrapped up in waterproof 

cagoules, hoods and gloves for a visit to a damp and 

windblown garden at Tattenhall Hall.  This was a pity 

as the gardens merit a lingering wander.  The Hall 

and garden are owned by two couples, Jen and Nick 

Benefield and Jannie Hollins and Chris Evered. 

Tattenhall Hall was built of brick in the first part of 

the 17th century, on the site of an earlier black and 

white house and is Grade 2 listed.  It was acquired by 

the Bolesworth estate around 1860 when a òmodel 

farmò was set up and continued as a farm till the 

house and garden were bought by the present 

owners in 1994/5.   

Some of the 1860 farm buildings were demolished, 

others turned into housing.  The present owners 

found a garden, òrun by farmersó but where there 

were a few plants, several mature trees, (including a 

fine horse chestnut) and a large pond, previously the 

mill pond. 

 

View to pond 

During the winter, as the sale was being processed, 

the pond disappeared, so an early task was to have it 

dredged and re-puddled.  The silt from this operation 

was used to make a terraced slope from the house 

to the pond, part of which has since been planted as 

a shady òspinneyó with shrubs, trees and bulbs.  

Previously the house had stood, òon a precipiceó.   

A walk from the pond through the spinney passes 

under a stone arch labelled òGIRLSó, a touch of 

humour obtained from a local reclamation centre.  

The pond is fed by a stream but not by a spring, so in 

a dry season the stream dries up.  There is a non-

working cascade at one end of the pond which the 

owners would like to restore. 

The house is approached by a drive past a wild 

flower meadow, which was bright with yellow rattle.   

Rosa ôMme Alfred Carrièreõ clambers on the house 

wall and a sculpted crab waited on the corner.    

At the back of the house good use has been made of 

a walled garden, with a lawn, borders and  

shrubs.  The delightful borders contain peonies, 

aquilegia, penstemon, poppies, iris and allium.  A plant 

with nodding blue flowers caught our interest and Jen 

told us this was an herbaceous clematis, Clematis 

integrifolia.  There was also a less obvious pink variety.  

These clematis looked very much at home in the 

border but are slow growing, so take a while to 

become a feature.   

 
Border showing clematis integrifolia 

Along the wall itself there are shrubs and honeysuckle.  

Plants growing on the wall of the house include banksia, 

wisteria and Carpenteria californica.  In a glass house 

attached to the house oleander was in bloom.  Close to 

the house a feature has been made of the two original 

wells, now dry.  

The site is more gardens than a garden, for, as well as 

the wildlife meadow, the spinney, and the garden 

immediately behind the house there is a vegetable 

garden, wild areas, more borders and lawns, a small sink 

garden, and a small collection of bonsai trees.  Some of 

the meadow area is too coarse for wildflowers and 

here the owners have sown ribbons of plants through 

the grass.  Several of the borders look, at a glance, as if 

they had just grown, a gently wild mixture but, on a 

closer look, it is clear that these very natural looking 

plants have been carefully and subtly colour-themed.   

 

Ribbon planting 

As well as the crab 

at the top of the 

drive there are 

sculptures of ravens, 

a goose, and a lamb. 

Real animals were 

represented by a 

Labrador, two cats 

and a chicken. 

Wildlife was 

probably sheltering 

from the weather! 

Tattenhall Hall 

opens under the 

NGS scheme. 
 

Jenny Wood 
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Some thoughts on our visit to 

Wollerton Old Hall, Shropshire on Wednesday15th June 2011 

First impressions of Wollerton Old Hall are of the old 

world atmosphere generated by the mellow ochre 

walls and oak beams of the 16th Century hall and then 

delight as you discover the 4 acres of gardens ready to 

be explored around the house.  The way that the 

gardens are set out in 'rooms' makes the journey 

more interesting than usual, with new vistas appearing 

as you turn a corner or look through a hedge.  The 

formality of the hedging, paving, box and rows of 

conifers is softened by the exuberant planting of the 

perennials, shrubs and roses. 

 

Even as we first came through the gates to approach 

the house along the winding driveway, we became 

aware of the scent of a philadelphus (Mock Orange) 

and a deep burgundy rose.  Scent is a feature 

throughout the garden. 

Before the tour Andrew Humphris, the head gardener, 

gave us some interesting background information on 

the history of the hall and gardens and how the 

present owners, Lesley and John Jenkins, came to live 

there.   

 
Apparently Lesley had lived there as a child and then 

later in life, when looking for a house, she discovered 

that Wollerton was up for sale.  Someone had shown 

interest already but as Lesley and John could move 

quickly they got the house and in 1984 moved in and 

started the renovation. 

As we toured the garden Andrew pointed out the 

interesting and rare plants.  There are large collections  

of salvias and clematis and also phlox and roses.  

Various areas are still being developed or changed so 

there will be fresh delights to see on future visits.   

 
The first area we entered was the Yew Walk.  Ten tall 

yews line a wide grass path.  The planting is mainly 

blue, silver and white with flashes of apricot.  Moving 

on through Aliceõs Garden (named after a cat who 

loved to doze there), which includes a deep blue Salvia 

atrocyanea that reaches 7ft in height, we entered the 

Sundial Garden.  An Arts and Crafts oak gate leading 

to the Lanhydrock Garden is a feature here.  

Nearby is the rose garden, a double border of mainly 

David Austin roses bounded by box cones in pots and 

edged with the giant catmint Nepeta sintenisii ôSix Hills 

Giantõ.  This is an area due for a change in the near 

future. 

 

 
 

There is so much to see that it all becomes a bit of a 

blur to the novice gardener and further visits will be 

needed to take it all in.  A striking yellow phlomis 

stood out in the Perennial Border.  The gorgeous 

yellow-orange scented English rose ôLady Emma 

Hamiltonõ was memorable and the more delicate pink 

and white rambling rose ôFrancis E Lesterõ with its 

huge bunches of small flowers clambering over a 

pergola was stunning. 

Beyond the formal areas there is the Croft Garden.  

This semi-formal area is defined by a circular green 

path.  Planting includes maples, hydrangeas and  


